

UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO AMAZONAS FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS FLORESTAIS E AMBIENTAIS

SOBREVIVÊNCIA, CRESCIMENTO E CARACTERÍSTICAS FOTOSSINTÉTICAS DE ESPÉCIES FLORESTAIS EM RESPOSTA À FERTILIZAÇÃO FOSFATADA

Alaíde de Oliveira Carvalho

MANAUS 2020



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO AMAZONAS FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS FLORESTAIS E AMBIENTAIS

SOBREVIVÊNCIA, CRESCIMENTO E CARACTERÍSTICAS FOTOSSINTÉTICAS DE ESPÉCIES FLORESTAIS EM RESPOSTA À FERTILIZAÇÃO FOSFATADA

Alaíde de Oliveira Carvalho

Orientador: Dr. Marciel José Ferreira

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais da Universidade Federal do Amazonas (PPG-CIFA/UFAM) como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Mestre em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais.

MANAUS 2020 Carvalho, Alaíde de Oliveira C331s Sobrevivência, crescimento e características fotossintéticas de espécies florestais em resposta à fertilização fosfatada / Alaíde de Oliveira Carvalho, Marciel José Ferreira. 2020 57 f.: il.; 31 cm.

Orientador: Marciel José Ferreira Dissertação (Mestrado em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais) -Universidade Federal do Amazonas.

1. Crescimento. 2. Sobrevivência. 3. características fotossintéticas. 4. status sucessional. 5. reflorestamento. I. Ferreira, Marciel José. II. Universidade Federal do Amazonas III. Título

Sinopse: Os efeitos do fornecimento de fósforo via fertilização mineral sobre as taxas demográficas e características fotossintéticas foliares de mudas de dez espécies florestais foram investigados em um plantio misto de dois anos de idade. As respostas à fertilização variaram de acordo com as espécies estudadas ainda dentro do mesmo grupo ecológico. Respostas de crescimento e características fotossintéticas indicaram as espécies pioneiras como mais sensíveis aos efeitos da fertilização.

Palavras chave: Crescimento; sobrevivência; características fotossintéticas; status sucessional; reflorestamento.

30/11/2020

SEI/UFAM - 0349830 - Ata



Ministério da Educação Universidade Federal do Amazonas Coordenação do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais

> Ata da Defesa Pública da Dissertação de Mestrado do Sr. ALAÍDE DE OLIVEIRA CARVALHO, mestrando(a) do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais - PPGCIFA, Faculdade de Ciências Agrárias, Universidade Federal do Amazonas, área de concentraçao em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais (CIFA), realizada no dia 03 de novembro de 2020.

Aos terceiro dias do mês de novembro de 2020, às 09:00 Horas, por meio da plataforma google meets disponibilizada gratuitamente para reuniões ao vivo por vídeoconferência, realizou-se a Defesa de Mestrado, intitulada: "SOBREVIVÊNCIA, CRESCIMENTO E CARACTERÍSTICAS FOTOSSINTÉTICAS DE ESPÉCIES FLORESTAIS EM RESPOSTA À FERTILIZAÇÃO FOSFATADA" da discente ALAÍDE DE OLIVEIRA CARVALHO, como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de MESTRE "Magister Scientia" em CIÊNCIAS FLORESTAIS E AMBIENTAIS (CIFA). A Banca Examinadora foi constituída pelos seguintes membros: DOUTOR MARCIEL JOSÉ FERREIRA (Orientador/Presidente - UFAM), DOUTOR JHONY VENDRUSCOLO (Membro Externo - UFAM) e o DOUTOR JAOB BAPTISTA SILVA FERRAZ (Membro Externo - INPA). Após o fim da apresentação e arguição pelos membros da Banca Examinadora, esta se reuniu para deliberação, emitindo o seguinte parecer:

Marciel José Ferreira - UFAM	Aprovada (X)	Não Aprovada ()	Suspensão da Sessão ()
Jhony Vendruscolo - UFAM	Aprovada (X)	Não Aprovada ()	Suspensão da Sessão ()
João Baptista Silva Ferraz - INPA	Aprovada (X)	Não Aprovada ()	Suspensão da Sessão ()

Como resultado final da avaliação, a Banca Examinadora decidiu pela APROVAÇÃO da Dissertação de mestrado da ALAÍDE DE OLIVEIRA CARVALHO, que tem até 30 (trinta) dias corridos a partir desta data para enviar a coordenação a versão final da dissertação, conforme as recomendações da Banca. A sessão foi encerrada e eu, Gillieny de Souza Rodrigues, secretária do PPG-CIFA, lavrei esta ata que depois de lida será assinada pelos membros da Banca Examinadora.

em Manaus, 03 de novembro de 2020.

Assinaturas eletrônicas da Banca Examinadora e Ciência da Discente

Marciel José Ferreira - UFAM

Jhony Vendruscolo - UFAM

João Baptista Silva Ferraz - INPA

Alaíde de Oliveira Carvalho - Ciência da Discente

Documento assinado eletronicamente por **Marciel José Ferreira**, **Professor do Magistério Superior**, em 03/11/2020, às 20:04, conforme horário oficial de Manaus, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº</u>

https://sei.ufam.edu.br/sei/controlador_externo.php?acao=usuario_externo_documento_assinar&id_acesso_externo=1041&id_documento=402580&id... 1/2

30/11/2020	SEI/UFAM - 0349830 - Ata
seil assinatura eletrônica	<u>8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u> .
seil assinatura eletrònica	Documento assinado eletronicamente por Jhony Vendruscolo, Professor do Magistério Superior , em 09/11/2020, às 14:15, conforme horário oficial de Manaus, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº</u> <u>8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u> .
seil assinatura eletrònica	Documento assinado eletronicamente por João Baptista Silva Ferraz, Usuário Externo , em 27/11/2020, às 08:42, conforme horário oficial de Manaus, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8 de outubro de 2015</u> .
seil assinatura eletrônica	Documento assinado eletronicamente por Alaíde de Oliveira Carvalho, Usuário Externo , em 30/11/2020, às 15:21, conforme horário oficial de Manaus, com fundamento no art. 6º, § 1º, do <u>Decreto nº 8.539, de 8</u> <u>de outubro de 2015</u> .
	A autenticidade deste documento pode ser conferida no site <u>https://sei.ufam.edu.br/sei/controlador_externo.php?</u> <u>acao=documento_conferir&id_orgao_acesso_externo=0</u> , informando o código verificador 0349830 e o código CRC 73C2CBA3 .

Av. General Rodrigo Octávio, 6200 - Bairro Coroado I Campus Universitário Senador Arthur Virgílio Filho, Setor Sul, Bloco FCA/ICB (Pós-Graduação), 2º andar - Telefone: (92) 99128-6254 CEP 69080-900, Manaus/AM, ppgcifa@ufam.edu.br

Referência: Processo nº 23105.036569/2020-92

SEI nº 0349830

https://sei.ufam.edu.br/sei/controlador_externo.php?acao=usuario_externo_documento_assinar&id_acesso_externo=1041&id_documento=402580&id... 2/2

Agradecimentos

Primeiramente agradeço aos meus pais, Israel Souza Carvalho e Creuza Maria de Oliveira por serem minha base, por sempre terem me incentivado a estudar e não medirem esforços para que isso acontecesse, pelos sacrifícios diários para me manter durante a graduação, e todo amor que me dedicam. Sem os esforços de vocês nada disso seria possível. Por isso, dedico a vocês essa conquista.

Faço um agradecimento especial ao André Henrique Bueno Neves, por estar ao meu lado desde o início desse sonho, por sonhar comigo e tornar essa experiência mais fácil ao dividir as responsabilidades diárias. Que possamos continuar alcançando novas metas juntos.

A Professora Kenia Michele de Quadros Tronco, agradeço por me inserir na pesquisa ao longo da graduação, por todo o carinho e ensinamento.

Ao professor Marciel José Ferreira, um agradecimento especial, por ser um orientador presente e dedicado, que segue fazendo a diferença na vida dos seus orientados.

Aos amigos do Laboratório de Silvicultura da UFAM, Débora, José Carlos, Alex e Thalita por todo apoio e experiências compartilhadas. Em especial, agradeço ao Victor, Guilherme e Thayane por terem participação direta no meu aprendizado e crescimento. A participação de todos me proporcionou uma formação mais completa, por isso sou grata.

À Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior - Brasil (CAPES) - Código de Financiamento 001, pela bolsa concedida e pelo apoio financeiro à realização de parte do estudo.

Ao Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) pelo financiamento do projeto (Chamada Universal/MCTI/CNPq nº 01/2016, Processo N° 425260/2016-0), o qual meu estudo está inserido. Ao projeto GOAmazon (Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Amazonas, N°: 062.00570/2014), que adquiriu uma parte dos equipamentos utilizados na pesquisa.

Aos funcionários da Fazenda Experimental da Universidade Federal do Amazonas (FAEXP-UFAM) pelo apoio em campo e pela alimentação durante as coletas de dados.

Ao Laboratório Temático de Solos e Plantas do INPA, em especial a Laura, Priscila e Roberta, pelo apoio nas análises de nutrientes foliares e análises químicas de solo. Por fim, a Universidade Federal do Amazonas (UFAM), Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências Florestais e Ambientais (PPG-CIFA) pela oportunidade de concluir minha formação no nível mestrado.

Resumo

A baixa disponibilidade de fósforo (P) em solos tropicais pode afetar o estabelecimento inicial de espécies florestais em projetos de reflorestamento em áreas perturbadas. No entanto, os efeitos do suprimento de fósforo via fertilização mineral como uma estratégia para melhorar a sobrevivência, o crescimento e as características fotossintéticas de espécies arbóreas da Amazônia em solos pobres em P permanecem indefinidos. Nesta pesquisa, o objetivo foi investigar como níveis contrastantes de fertilização com fósforo afetam o estabelecimento de espécies florestais nativas pertencentes a diferentes status sucessionais. As espécies pioneiras estudadas foram: Apuleia leiocarpa (Vogel) J.F.Macbr, Erythrina fusca Lour, Guazuma ulmifolia Lam, Cordia alliodora (Ruiz & Pav.) Cham, Cedrela fissilis L.; e as não pioneiras: Swietenia macrophylla King, Bertholletia excelsa Bonpl, Carapa guianensis Aubl, Hymenaea courbaril. L, Dipteryx odorata (Aubl.) Willd. As taxas de sobrevivência e crescimento, e as características foliares (índice SPAD, parâmetros de fluorescência da clorofila a, nutrientes foliares, razão N/P e trocas gasosas) de dez espécies florestais (pioneiras e não pioneiras) submetidas à fertilização fosfatada (-P = 0 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹, controle, e + P = 160 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹ ¹) foram mensuradas em campo durante 24 meses. As espécies pioneiras foram mais sensíveis à fertilização. Erythrina fusca (pioneira) apresentou alta mortalidade sob -P. No entanto, Apuleia leiocarpa (pioneira) e Dipteryx odorata (não pioneira), apesar dos altos valores da relação N/P foliar, mantiveram as taxas de crescimento em solos pobres em P. Por outro lado, Cedrela fissilis e Cordia alliodora (pioneiras) exibiram os maiores aumentos nas taxas de crescimento após a fertilização. A fertilização melhorou os teores foliares de P em ambos os grupos sucessionais, enquanto a absorção (valores SPAD) e a eficiência no uso (índice de desempenho total, PI_{total}) da luz e a captura de carbono (condutância estomática) aumentaram apenas nas espécies pioneiras. Por outro lado, não foram observados efeitos positivos na assimilação de carbono em nível foliar, resultando em diminuição da eficiência fotossintética no uso do fósforo em espécies não pioneiras. Portanto, a fertilização com fósforo afeta o estabelecimento inicial de plantações de árvores amazônicas de um modo espécie-específico. As implicações desses resultados para os esforços de reflorestamento na região Amazônica são discutidas.

Palavras chave: Crescimento; Sobrevivência; Características fotossintéticas, Status sucessional; Reflorestamento.

Abstract

The low availability of phosphorus in tropical soils may impair the initial establishment of forest species in reforestation projects in disturbed areas. However, the effects of phosphorus fertilization as a strategy to improve the survival, growth and photosynthesisrelated traits of Amazonian tree species in P-limited soils remain elusive. Here, we investigate how contrasting levels of phosphorus fertilization affect the establishment of native forest species belong to different successional status. Pioneers species studied were: Apuleia leiocarpa (Vogel) J.F.Macbr, Erythrina fusca Lour, Guazuma ulmifolia Lam, Cordia alliodora (Ruiz & Pav.) Cham, Cedrela fissilis L.; and Non-pioneers: Swietenia macrophylla King, Bertholletia excelsa Bonpl, Carapa guianensis Aubl, Hymenaea courbaril. L, Dipteryx odorata (Aubl.) Willd. We measured the survival, growth and leaf traits (SPAD index, chlorophyll *a* fluorescence parameters, leaf nutrients, N/P ratio and gas exchange) of ten forest species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting phosphorus supply ($-P = 0 \text{ kg} P_2O_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$, control, and $+P = 160 \text{ kg} P_2O_5$ ha⁻¹) on the field during 24 months. Pioneers species were more sensible to fertilization. *Erythrina fusca (pioneers)* showed high mortality under -P. However, *Apuleia leiocarpa* (pioneers) and *Dipteryx odorata* (non-pioneers), despite high values on leaf N/P ratio, remained growth in P-limited soils. On the other hand, C. fissilis and C. alliodora (*pioneers*) exhibited the highest increase in growth rates after fertilization. Phosphorus supply improved the phosphorus leaf content in both successional groups, while light absorption (SPAD values) and processing (total performance index, PI_{total}) and carbon capture (stomatal conductance) were increased only in pioneers species. Conversely, positive effects on carbon assimilation at leaf-level were not observed, then the phosphorus fertilization reduced the phosphorus use-efficiency of non-pioneers species. Thus, phosphorus fertilization affects the initial establishment of Amazonian trees in a species-specific way. The implications of these results for reforestation efforts in Amazonia are discussed.

Keywords: Growth; Survival; Photosynthesis-related traits; Successional status; Reforestation.

Sumário

Sumário10
1 Introdução geral
2 <i>Objetivos</i>
2.1 Geral
2.2 Específicos
Capítulo único
<i>Abstract</i>
Keywords
1. Introduction
2 Material and methods
2.1 Study site
2.2 Experiment installation: species selection and soil preparation
2.3 Experimental design and phosphorus fertilization treatments23
2.4 Soil analyses25
2.5 Demographic measurements26
2.5.1 Survival rate
2.5.2 Relative growth rates
2.6 SPAD
2.7 Leaf nutrient contents
2.8 Fluorescence parameters27
2.9 Photosynthesis and photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency27
2.10 Statistical analysis
<i>3 Results</i>
3.1 Effects of fertilization on chemical properties of the soil
3.2 Effects of phosphorus fertilization on survival and growth
3.3 Effects of phosphorus fertilization on photosynthesis-related traits
<i>3.3.1 SPAD</i>
3.3.2 Fluorescence parameters
<i>3.3.3 Gas exchange</i>
3.3.4 Leaf nutrient content
4 Discussion

5 Conclusions	44
6 References	45
7 Conclusão geral	53
8 Referências bibliográficas	54

Lista de Tabelas

Table 1 Species, abbreviation, family, successional status, diameter and height of saplings used
in the experiment
Table 2 Chemical characteristics and soil fertility as affected by fertilization treatments after 24
months of planting $(n = 3)$
Table 3 Survival rates (%) (mean ± standard deviation) 24 months after planting of ten
Amazonian forest species submitted to contrasting phosphorus fertilization32

Lista de Figuras

Fig. 1 Layout of one of the experimental blocks showing the distribution of species in the field, following the ecological groups of the pioneers (P) and non-pioneers (NP) in alternate rows of planting, submitted to different levels of phosphorus fertilization (T1 =control, T2 = 40 kg ha⁻¹, T3 = 80 kg ha⁻¹, T4 = 160 kg ha⁻¹). "Material and Fig. 2 Survival (-P; a, +P; b) and growth height (-P; c, +P; d) and diameter (-P; e, +P; f) of pioneer and non-pioneer species submitted to contrasting phosphorus fertilization treatments (- $P = 0 \text{ kg } P \text{ ha}^{-1}$; + $P = 160 \text{ kg } P \text{ ha}^{-1}$) over 24 months For scientific names Fig. 3 Relative growth rates in height (a) and diameter (b) (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 Fig. 4 Index SPAD (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and nonpioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p< 0.05 *; p< 0.01 **; p< 0.001 ***). For scientific names abbreviations **Fig. 5** Maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (F_v/F_m) (pre-dawn: a, and midday: b), photochemical performance index (PI_{ABS}) (pre-dawn: c, and mid-day: d), and total photochemical performance index (PI_{total}) (pre-dawn: e, and mid-day: f) (mean \pm SD), of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 Fig. 6 Maximum photosynthesis per unit mass (A_{mass}; a) stomatal conductance (g_s; b) and transpiration (E; c) leaf dark respiration (Rd; d) (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg ha⁻ ¹ and $+P = 160 \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$ (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). For Fig. 7 Macro (N; a, P; b, K; c, Mg; d, Ca; e) and micronutrients (Fe; f, Zn; g, Mn; h) leaf content (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p>

1 Introdução geral

Os solos da Amazônia, em sua grande maioria, possuem baixa fertilidade, que é representada, principalmente, por acidez elevada, baixa capacidade de troca de cátions e baixos teores de fósforo (P) disponível (Walker e Syers, 1975; Moreira e Fageria 2009; Quesada et al. 2012). Fatores antrópicos intensificam a limitação desse nutriente por meio do desmatamento, queimadas, erosão e exportação de nutrientes com a remoção da biomassa aérea (McGrath et al. 2001). Essas ações restringem a mobilização de P e aumentam sua fixação (Ketterings et al. 2002). No estado do Amazonas, em particular, mais de 80% dos solos possuem teores de P considerados baixos ou muito baixos (< 5,4 mg dm⁻³) (Moreira e Fageria, 2009).

O baixo teor de fósforo no solo geralmente é considerado um fator limitante para a produtividade florestal (Quesada et al. 2012; Fleischer et al. 2019), pois, representa um nutriente essencial à fotossíntese e, portanto, à produção primária (Domingues et al. 2010; Vitousek et al. 2010). No entanto, evidências diretas (manipulação de P no solo e efeitos no crescimento) sobre a limitação de P nos trópicos são escassas e inconclusivas (Waring et al. 2019). Por exemplo, a redução nas taxas de crescimento tem sido observada no nível de espécie, porém não se traduzindo em uma resposta de toda a comunidade, pois algumas espécies crescem rapidamente em solos com baixa disponibilidade de fósforo (Wardle et al. 2004; Turner et al. 2018). O baixo teor de fósforo mostrou-se limitante na produtividade primária em florestas subtropicais da China (Huang et al. 2013) e em florestas do Havaí (Vitousek e Farrington, 1997). Por outro lado, para um estrato de floresta tropical na África Central (Newbery et al. 2002), floresta tropical úmida (Alvarez-Clare et al. 2013) e floresta tropical secundária na Costa Rica, não houve relação entre o crescimento e a disponibilidade do nutriente a nível de comunidade (Waring et al. 2019). Portanto, identificar os mecanismos pelos quais as espécies florestais modulam as variações nas respostas a disponibilidade deste nutriente é o próximo passo em direção à previsão da produtividade em escala de comunidade (Waring et al. 2019).

As exigências nutricionais das espécies florestais podem ser afetadas por suas características ecológicas (Resende et al. 2005). Espécies pioneiras têm maiores taxas de

crescimento quando comparadas as espécies não pioneiras (Swaine e Whitmore, 1988), surgem no processo inicial de sucessão das florestas (Dalling e Hubbell, 2002), e podem apresentar maior eficiência no uso dos nutrientes, mantendo suas taxas de crescimento ao longo de seu estabelecimento, mesmo em solos limitados por fósforo (Hidaka e Kitayama, 2013; Zhang et al. 2018). Apesar de tais características, quando cultivadas em ambiente controlado, essas espécies apresentam respostas positivas à adição de fósforo (Resende et al. 1999; Cruz et al. 2011). Espécies não pioneiras, por sua vez, possuem menores taxas de crescimento (Swaine e Whitmore, 1988) e podem apresentar menor eficiência no uso dos nutrientes, quando comparadas as pioneiras (Zhang et al. 2018). Quando cultivadas em ambientes controlados, espécies não pioneiras, podem apresentar menor sensibilidade a adição de nutrientes (Resende et al. 1999; Silva et al. 1997; Tucci et al. 2011), podendo ter essas taxas iniciais mantidas pelas reservas de nutrientes das suas sementes (Huante et al. 1995; Milberg e Lamont, 1997; Resende et al. 1999). Tais espécies podem apresentar comportamento conservativo, com baixas taxas de crescimento, porém alta sobrevivência durante o estabelecimento (Poorter et al. 2008; Chave et al. 2009; Wright et al. 2010).

Características foliares representativas do Espectro de Economia Foliar são consideradas variáveis indicadoras do trade-off entre crescimento e sobrevivência (Sterck et al. 2006; Martínez-Garza et al. 2013; Luo et al. 2016; Guimarães et al. 2018). Em solos com baixos teores de fósforo, as concentrações foliares desse nutriente estão ligadas a mudanças em vários traços foliares (Santiago, 2015). Plantas que crescem em sítios limitados por fósforo podem apresentar maior massa foliar por área (LMA), pois necessitam de folhas com tempo de vida mais longo (Wigrht et al. 2004), menor capacidade fotossintética (Wigrht et al. 2004; Warren et al. 2011) e baixas concentrações de nutrientes foliares (Wigrht et al. 2004; Hidaka e Kitayama, 2009). Consequentemente, essas espécies irão apresentar menores taxas de crescimento (Warren et al. 2011; Zavisic e Polle, 2017). Porém, para algumas espécies, essas características podem apresentar mudanças mais sutis, por serem altamente eficientes no uso dos nutrientes (Hidaka e Kitayama, 2009). Os mecanismos pelos quais as espécies respondem à variação na disponibilidade de P no solo ainda não são completamente entendidos. Do ponto de vista fisiológico, por exemplo, espécies capazes de alocar o P absorvido preferencialmente para funções metabólicas tendem aclimatar à baixa disponibilidade de P (Mo et al. 2019).

Dessa forma, faz-se necessário melhor compreensão dos mecanismos por trás dessas diferentes respostas das espécies florestais a disponibilidade de P no solo.

Portanto, a partir do monitoramento da sobrevivência, crescimento e características fotossintéticas foliares em sítios com disponibilidades contrastantes de fósforo, controlando outros fatores como a idade, espaçamento e disponibilidade de outros nutrientes essenciais, além da utilização de um conjunto de características morfológicas e fisiológicas, nós buscamos compreender as respostas para as seguintes questões principais: i) o estabelecimento de espécies pioneiras em condições de campo submetidas à fertilização com fósforo é mais sensível que as espécies não pioneiras? ii) os efeitos da fertilização com fósforo sobre a sobrevivência, crescimento e características fotossintéticas diferem entre as espécies? iii) as espécies com melhor crescimento em solos pobres em fósforo também exibem bom desempenho dos processos fisiológicos?

2 Objetivos

2.1 Geral

Investigar como a fertilização fosfatada determina o desempenho de espécies florestais dois anos após o plantio em áreas perturbadas.

2.2 Específicos

i) Verificar se o estabelecimento de espécies pioneiras em condições de campo submetidas à fertilização com fósforo é mais sensível que as espécies não pioneiras;

ii) Analisar se os efeitos da fertilização com fósforo sobre a sobrevivência, crescimento e características fotossintéticas dependem das espécies;

 iii) Investigar se espécies com melhor crescimento em solos pobres em fósforo também exibem bom desempenho dos processos fisiológicos. Carvalho, A.O; Ferreira, M.J. 2020. Short-term effects of phosphorus fertilization on the establishment of Amazonian tree species in a mixed plantation. Manuscrito em preparação para o periódico *New forests*.

Short-term effects of phosphorus fertilization on the establishment of Amazonian tree species in a mixed plantation

Carvalho.A.O1; Ferreira, M.J2.

¹ Master student of the Graduate Program in Forest and Environmental Sciences. Faculty of Agricultural Sciences, Federal University of Amazonas. Brazil, e-mail: carvalhoalaide91@gmail.com

²Department of Forest Sciences, Federal University of Amazonas, Manaus, Amazonas, Brazil, e-mail: mjf.ufam@gmail.com

Abstract

The low availability of phosphorus in tropical soils may impair the initial establishment of forest species in reforestation projects in disturbed areas. However, the effects of phosphorus fertilization as a strategy to improve the survival, growth and photosynthesisrelated traits of Amazonian tree species in P-limited soils remain elusive. Here, we investigate how contrasting levels of phosphorus fertilization affect the establishment of native forest species belong to different successional status. We measured the survival, growth and leaf traits (SPAD index, chlorophyll a fluorescence parameters, leaf nutrients, N/P ratio and gas exchange) of ten forest species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting phosphorus supply ($-P = 0 \text{ kg } P_2 O_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ and $+P = 160 \text{ kg } P_2 O_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$) on the field during 24 months. Pioneers species were more sensible to fertilization. Erythrina fusca (pioneers) showed high mortality under -P. However, Apuleia leiocarpa (pioneers) and Dipteryx odorata (non-pioneers), despite high values on leaf N/P ratio, remained growth in P-limited soils. On the other hand, C. fissilis and C. alliodora (pioneers) exhibited the highest increase in growth rates after fertilization. Phosphorus supply improved the phosphorus leaf content in both successional groups, while light absorption (SPAD values) and processing (total performance index, PI_{total}) and carbon capture (stomatal conductance) were increased only in pioneers species. Conversely, positive effects on carbon assimilation at leaf-level were not observed, then the phosphorus fertilization reduced the phosphorus use-efficiency of non-pioneers species. Thus, phosphorus fertilization affects the initial establishment of Amazonian trees in a speciesspecific way. The implications of these results for reforestation efforts in Amazonia are discussed.

Keywords: Growth; Survival; Photosynthesis-related traits; Successional status; Reforestation.

1. Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is a widely limiting nutrient of aboveground plant production in terrestrial ecosystems (Hou et al. 2020). Most of the Amazonian soils, for example, have low fertility natural, characterized mainly by high acidity, low exchange capacity and low phosphorus availability (Walker and Syers 1975; Moreira and Fageria 2009; Quesada et al. 2012). The soils of Amazonas state can exhibit values < 5.4 mg P dm⁻³ (Moreira and Fageria 2009). In addition, the deforestation of mature forests can exacerbate the

phosphorus limitation by restricting the mobilization and increase the fixation in soils on disturbed areas (McGrath et al. 2001; Ketterings et al. 2002).

Phosphorus is an essential nutrient for photosynthesis and, therefore, for primary productivity (Domingues et al. 2010; Vitousek et al. 2010). The improving of soil conditions in disturbed areas can be reached by silvicultural treatments (e.g. fertilization) (Campoe et al. 2014; Rubilar et al. 2018). The input of P by fertilization has positively affected the growth and survival of tree species (Resende et al. 1999; Uddin et al. 2009; Tng et al. 2014). However, there are cases in which even with the increase of P available in the soil through the addition of chemical fertilizer, the species did not show a growth response (Driessche 1980). Likewise, different responses between species submitted to fertilization are observed (Barrow 1977). These differences may be associated with successional status (Resende 1999) and may vary between species and their characteristics (Groves and Heraitis 1976; Barrow 1977; Resende et al. 2005).

Pioneers species have higher growth rates than non-pioneers and can show greater nutrient use efficiency maintaining their growth even in soils limited by phosphorus (Hidaka and Kitayama 2013; Zhang et al. 2018). However, when submitted to fertilization treatments, pioneers species tend to show positive responses to the input of phosphorus (Resende et al. 1999; Cruz et al. 2011). Conversely, non-pioneers species, have slow growth and may show low nutrient use efficiency (Zhang et al. 2018). The effects of phosphorus fertilization normally are less significant for the growth of non-pioneers species due to the nutrient reserves of seeds (Huante et al. 1995; Milberg and Lamont 1997; Resende et al. 1999). The conservative strategies of non-pioneers species contrast the low growth rates with high survival during the initial establishment (Poorter et al. 2008; Chave et al. 2009; Wright et al. 2010). These responses are related to the strategy of resource utilization, or the spectrum of the leaf economy, which consists of the leaf strategies of plants, in changing their chemical, structural, and/or physiological properties according to their growth or survival (Wright et al. 2004; Hidaka and Kitayama 2013; Zhang et al. 2018).

Leaf traits representative of the leaf economy spectrum can reflect the trade-off between growth and survival (Sterck et al. 2006; Martínez-garza et al. 2013; Luo et al. 2016; Guimarães et al. 2018). Plants growing in sites limited by phosphorus may have reduced photosynthetic capacity (Wright et al. 2004; Warren et al. 2011) and low leaf nutrients content (Wright et al. 2004; Hidaka and Kitayama 2009) and, consequently, slow growth rates (Warren et al. 2011; Zavisic and Polle 2017). However, tropical tree species adapted to infertile soils can maintain their photosynthetic capacity by altering the allocation of P foliar reducing P allocation to non-metabolic foliar P fractions (Mo et al. 2019). The relevance of nutrient use efficiency to determine the interspecific growth differences during the initial establishment of plants on infertile soils has been highlighted for plantations of Amazonian trees (Santos Jr et al. 2006; Guimarães et al. 2018). However, how the controlled supply of phosphorus by fertilization drives the growth and photosynthetic mechanisms of native species in field is still lacking.

Here, in a mixed plantation using ten Amazonian tree species for protective objective established during 24 months on field condition, we address the following main question: how contrasting levels of phosphorus fertilization affect the survival, growth and photosynthesis-related traits of native forest species belonging to different successional status. Our specific hypothesis were as follows: i) the establishment of pioneers species on field condition as affected by phosphorus fertilization is more sensible than non-pioneers species; ii) the effects of phosphorus fertilization on survival, growth and photosynthesis-related traits are species-dependent; iii) species with the best growth in P-limited soils also exhibits the good performance of physiological mechanisms.

2 Material and methods

2.1 Study site

The experiment was conducted at the Experimental Farm of the Federal University of Amazonas (02 ° 38 ′ S and 60 ° 03 ′ W), Manaus, Amazonas, Brazil. The Central Amazon region is characterized by annual precipitation of 2,350 mm, monthly air temperature ranging from 26.4 °C to 28.5 °C and air humidity reaching an average value of 75% in the dry season and 85% in the wet season (data from 1988-2018; INMET 2019). The precipitation seasonality is generally moderate with dry season lengths from August to September (Sombroek 2001). The soil is clayey yellow Latosol (Araujo et al. 2002). The surrounding forest is a rainforest with an enclosed canopy (Guillaumet and Kahn 1982). The site planting is a disturbed area where the mature forest was removed in 1985 and the area was submitted to several changes in soil use (mainly agricultural activities) until complete abandonment. The site was dominated by weed (*Brachiaria* spp.) before the planting, acting as a strong barrier to the establishment of natural regeneration.

2.2 Experiment installation: species selection and soil preparation

Ten native forest species were selected according to their socioeconomic and ecological importance for the region and on availability of seeds in the planting year. The species were divided into two contrasting successional status, being five pioneers and five non-pioneers species (Table 1). The average value of clay content in the soil was 75%, $pH_{H2O} = 4.4$ and available phosphorus (P) = 3.12 mg kg⁻¹ priory the experiment installation (Luvison, 2018). For soil acid correction, 108.8 g of dolomitic limestone (PRNT 92%; Ca 32%; Mg 15%) was applied 60 days before planting in each pit. In addition to the correction, cover fertilization was applied to all plants only in the planting. We used 10 g of FTEBR12 (Mo 0.001%, B 1,8%, Cu 0.8%, Mn 2% and Zn 0.7%), 16 g of urea (45% N) and 11.5 g of potassium chloride (58% K₂0). The same amount of urea and potassium chloride were also applied thirty, sixty and ninety days after planting. The dosages and methods that guarantee the minimum nutrient requirements of native tropical forest species were obtained from a literature review (Furtini Neto et al. 2000; Resende et al. 2005; Campoe 2014; Alvarado 2015).

2.3 Experimental design and phosphorus fertilization treatments

The experiment consists of $4 \ge 2$ factorial design, with eight treatments in randomized blocks with three replications (Fig.1). The factors consisted of four levels of phosphorus fertilization and two successional status species groups. The layout of each block consisted of four main plots of $32 \times 6 \text{ m} (192 \text{ m}^2)$, in which the levels of triple superphosphate (46% P_2O_5) were applied (0, 40, 80 and 160 kg P_2O_5 ha⁻¹). Within the main plots, subplots with 32 m x 3 m (96 m²) were represented by alternated lines of pioneers and non-pioneers species (Nave and Rodrigues 2007). The planting lines (pioneers or non-pioneers) had a total of 15 saplings, being three pseudo-replicates of each species. To best distinguish the species performance on infertile and fertile soil simulated by fertilization, only the most contrasting levels of phosphorus supply (0 and 160 kg $_{\rm P}$ ha⁻¹, named -P and +P) were examined in this research. The planting spacing was 3 x 2 m. The planting was carried out in 40 x 50 cm pits prepared with a soil drill attached to a tractor. The control of ants was carried out before and after planting through the application of granulated ant killer and the control of weed competition carried out by crowning with manual weeding and semi-mechanized mowing between the lines every three months.

n°	Species	Abbreviation	Family	Successional status	Diameter (mm)	Height (cm)
1	Apuleia leiocarpa (Vogel) J.F.Macbr.	A.l	Fabaceae	Pioneers	5.43±0.87	83±15.55
2	Erythrina fusca Lour.	E.f	Fabaceae	Pioneers	$8.69 \pm .79$	78±15.66
3	<i>Guazuma ulmifolia</i> Lam.	G.u	Malvaceae	Pioneers	6.63 ± 0.77	81±5.63
4	Cordia alliodora (Ruiz & Pav.) Cham	C.a	Boraginaceae	Pioneers	6.16 ± 1.10	61±14.93
5	Cedrela fissilis L.	C.f	Meliaceae	Pioneers	6.45 ± 1.82	20±8.97
6	Swietenia macrophylla King.	S.m	Meliaceae	Non pioneers	$5.98{\pm}0.78$	41±0.37
7	Bertholletia excelsa Bonpl.	B.e	Lecytidaceae	Non pioneers	5.15 ± 0.76	48±5.94
8	Carapa guianensis Aubl.	C.g	Meliaceae	Non pioneers	7.51±1.41	41±11.43
9	Hymenaea courbaril. L.	H.c	Fabaceae	Non pioneers	$5.30{\pm}0.72$	54±10.22
10	Dipteryx odorata (Aubl.) Willd.	D.o	Fabaceae	Non pioneers	5.14 ± 1.12	32±8.70

Table 1 Species, abbreviation, family, successional status, diameter and height of saplings used in the experiment.

* = Ecological groups of the species used in the experiment based on the classification by Withmore (1989).

	0	Ø	0	0	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	٢	0	0	0	Ø
TO	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P5	P3	P4	P2	P1	P3	P1	P2	P4	P5
12	0	Ø	Ø	\bigcirc	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ó	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø
	NP1	NP2	NP3	NP4	NP5	NP5	NP3	NP4	NP2	NP1	NP3	NP1	NP2	NP4	NP5
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	ø	0	0	0	0	0	0	Ø
TA	P 1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P5	P3	P4	P2	P1	P3	P1	P2	P4	P5
11	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø
	NP1	NP2	NP3	NP4	NP5	NP5	NP3	NP4	NP2	NP1	NP3	NP1	NP2	NP4	NP5
	0	Ø	0	0	0	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	Ø	Ø
TA	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P5	P3	P4	P2	P1	P3	P1	P2	P4	P5
14	0	Ø	Ø	Ó	Ø	0	Q	Ø	Ó	Q	Ø	Ó	Ø	Ø	Ø
	NP1	NP2	NP3	NP4	NP5	NP5	NP3	NP4	NP2	NP1	NP3	NP1	NP2	NP4	NP5
	0	Ø	٢	0	٢	۲	0	0	0	۲	ø	۲	0	0	۲
T2	P 1	P2	P3	P4	P5	P5	P3	P4	P2	P1	P3	P1	P2	P4	P5
13	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	0	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	Ø	0	Ø
	NP1	NP2	NP3	NP4	NP5	NP5	NP3	NP4	NP2	NP1	NP3	NP1	NP2	NP4	NP5

Fig. 1 Layout of one of the experimental blocks showing the distribution of species in the field, following the ecological groups of the pioneers (P) and non-pioneers (NP) in alternate rows of planting, submitted to different levels of phosphorus fertilization (T1 = control, T2 = 40 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹, T3= 80 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹, T4= 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹).

2.4 Soil analyses

Two years after planting, soil samples were collected in the pit of both treatments at a depth the 0-20 cm. Three points were collected per planting line to compose a homogeneous sample.

The soil samples were analyzed for pH (H₂O and KCl), potential acidity (H+Al), soil organic matter (SOM) and carbon (C), macronutrients (P, K, Ca and Mg) and micronutrients (Fe, Zn and Mn), subsequently base saturation and the sum of bases and (V%, SB). The pH was determined using an electrode (Thomas 1996). The extraction of potential acidity (H + Al) from the soil was carried out with a solution of calcium acetate and alkalimetric titration of the extract (Mclean 1965). The levels of soil organic matter (SOM) and carbon (C) were determined by the volumetric method using potassium dichromate (Walkley and Black 1934). The concentrations of calcium (Ca) and magnesium (Mg) were obtained by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (Mclean 1965) after the extraction in KCl 1 M (Miyazawa et al. 1999). The macronutrients (P and K) and micronutrients (Fe, Zn, and Mn) were extracted with the Mehlich solution (0.05 M HCl, 0.0125 M H₂SO₄). The P available was determined by visible spectrophotometry (660 nm), while K and micronutrients were quantified by atomic absorption spectrophotometry (Thomas 1996).

2.5 Demographic measurements

The temporal variation of survival and growth was monitored quarterly from April 2017 to April 2019 for 24 months. In each monitoring campaign, the number of live samplings was counted and the root collar diameter (D) (5 cm above the ground) and total height (H) of each sapling were measured.

2.5.1 Survival rate

We calculated the annual survival rate (SR) according to Poorter and Bongers (2006). The daily seedling survival rate (DSR) for each species consisted of the slope of the log10 regression (percentage of surviving seedlings) against time (in days). The annual survival rate was then calculated as 10^{365DSR} .

2.5.2 Relative growth rates

The relative growth rates were calculated as follow: $RGR_{height} = (lnH 2 - lnH 1) / (t 2 - t 1)$ and $RGR_{diameter} = (lnD 2 - lnD 1) / (t 2 - t 1)$ according to Hunt (1990) and Bugbee (1996), where: H 1 = height (cm) at the time of planting, H 2 = height after two years; D 1 = diameter (mm) at the time of planting, D 2 = diameter after two years; t 2 and t 1 = interval between two years.

2.6 SPAD

The chlorophyll index content (SPAD values) was measured in three leaves of each tree and three different regions of the leaf, avoiding the ribs and using a portable chlorophyll meter (SPAD model 502; Minolta, Osaka, Japan). The measurements were made in the field on the same leaves used to determine gas exchange, fully expanded leaves visually in the middle third of the crown.

2.7 Leaf nutrient contents

The nutrients analyses were made by three to six leaves per plant. All leaves of each plant were ground to form a homogeneous composite sample. The leaf nitrogen content was determined by the Kjeldahl method with digestion, distillation and titration (Bremner 1996). Leaf phosphorus was determined by spectrophotometry ($\lambda = 750$ nm) after the molybdate method (Murphy and Riley 1962). The leaf content of potassium, magnesium, calcium, iron, zinc and manganese were determined by atomic absorption spectrometry (1100B, PerkinElmer, Ueberlingen, Germany).

2.8 Fluorescence parameters

Chlorophyll a fluorescence analyses were made with a portable fluorimeter (PEA, MK2-9600, Hansatech, Norfolk, UK) adjusted to emitted a saturating light pulse of 3000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ at a wavelength of 650 nm during 1 s. Measurements were made on three leaves per plant at 4:30 am and 12:00 (noon) (pre-dawn and midday). Before the midday measurements, the leaves were dark acclimated for 30 min for complete oxidation of the photosynthetic electron transport chain using specific leafclips. The chlorophyll a fluorescence polyphasic transient and the fluorescence parameters were determined after JIP test application, following Strasser et al. (2010), Strasser, Srivastava et al. (1995), Strasser, Srivastava et al. (1999) and Tsimilli-Michael and Strasser (2008). The JIP-test calculate light use performance parameters throughout of the electron transport chain, where: light energy is absorbed by the antenna of PSII (ABS) and a fraction is trapped by open PSII reactions centers (TR), leading to the quinone A (QA⁻) reduction; the QA⁻ electron is transported to intersystem electron acceptors (ET) and to the final electron acceptors of PSI (RE). The following parameters using the JIP-test have obtained: the reaction centers density (RC/ABS), the maximum quantum yield of PSII (F_V/F_M), efficiency of intersystem transport (ET_0/TR_0) and efficiency of the electron transport to reducing the final electron acceptors PSI (RE_0/ET_0). PI_{ABS} is an integrated index of the efficiency in which electron is trapped by PSII (F_V/F_M) and is transferred further than QA - (ET_0/TR_0) . PI_{total} is an integrated index of the PI_{ABS} and the efficiency in which electrons reduce the end acceptors at the PSI.

$$PI_{abs} = \left(\frac{RC}{ABS}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{F_v/F_m}{1 - F_v/F_m}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{ET_0/TR_0}{1 - ET_0/TR_0}\right)$$

$$PI_{total} = PI_{abs} \cdot \left(\frac{RE_0/ET_0}{1 - RE_0/ET_0}\right)$$

2.9 Photosynthesis and photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency

The net photosynthesis per unit leaf area (A_n) , dark respiration (R_d) stomatal conductance (g_s) and transpiration rate (E) were measured by using an infrared gas analyzer (LI-6400XT, LI-COR, USA). The measurements were made on one leaf per plant. However, before carrying out, experimental tests were carried out on several leaves per plant to ensure the selection of leaves with maximum values of photosynthesis at light-saturated (A_{max}) . The measurements were made between 08:00 am and 12:00 (noon). The chamber was adjusted to a flow of 400 µmol s⁻¹; CO₂ concentration of 400 µmol mol⁻ ¹; 21 mmol mol⁻¹ of the H₂O vapor concentration; leaf temperature of 31°C; and photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) of 2000 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹ (except for R_d when PPFD was 0 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹). The maximum photosynthesis per unit mass (A_{mass}) was calculated by multiplying the specific leaf area (*SLA*) by A_{max} and by 0.1 depending on the differences between the units of each variable (µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ x cm² g⁻¹). The *SLA* was calculated from the ratio of the fresh leaf area to the dry leaf mass at 65°C until obtaining constant leaf mass, using leaf discs of known area (0.283 cm²) (Evans and Poorter 2001). The photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency (PnutrientUE) for macro and micronutrients was calculated by the ratio between the rates of photosynthesis per unit mass ($A_{max} * SLA$ * 0.1) and the respective leaf nutrient content of each plant (Field and Mooney 1986; Ferreira et al. 2016).

2.10 Statistical analysis

The data were previously submitted to the assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity by Shapiro-Wilk and Lilliefors tests, respectively. Non-normality and heterogeneity were corrected by log transformation. Demographic and photosynthetic traits were analyzed by two-way ANOVA to test for the effects of blocks, fertilization treatments, species and their interactions. In the case of significance (P < 0.05), Duncan post hoc test was performed. All analyses were made using Statistica 9.0 software.

3 Results

3.1 Effects of fertilization on chemical properties of the soil

Two years after fertilization, the values of pH increased in both treatments compared priory of the experiment. In addition, there was a seven-fold increase in P available in fertilized treatments and Fe concentrations increased by 27% when fertilized (Table 2).

3.2 Effects of phosphorus fertilization on survival and growth

The species groups showed high survival in both treatments (-P and + P). However, *E. fusca* (pioneer species) under -P, significantly reduced the values of survival after 10 months reaching 0% at 24 months (Fig. 2 a). *A. leiocarpa* exhibited the highest values of height under – P and + P from 15 months after planting. *C. alliodora* and *E. fusca* also increased their height under + P over time (Fig. 2 c,d). The interspecific differences of absolute values in diameter over time were more evident under + P. *C. alliodora*, *E. fusca* and *C. fissilis* showed the highest values of diameter, while *A*. *leiocarpa* and *S. macrophylla* exhibited intermediate values and, *H. courbaril*, *D. odorata*, *C. guianensis* and *B. excelsa* had the lowest values (Fig. 2 e,f).

The growth rates in height and diameter were affected in different ways by fertilization and species according to successional status (Fig. 3 a,b). For non-pioneers species (NP), the RGR-height was not affected by fertilization, while there were differences among species. The values of RGR-height for *D. odorota* were approximately two times higher than *C. guianensis*. For RGR-diameter, NP exhibited no significant effect on all treatments. Conversely, the pioneer species (P) showed a significant difference of RGR in height and diameter as affected by fertilization. *C. alliodora* and *C. fissilis* had values 44.5 and 36% higher for height and diameter, respectively, under +P than -P. *A. leiocarpa* showed average values of height 27% and 46% higher than *G. ulmifolia*, for +P and - P, respectively, while the interspecific differences of diameter were not significant.

The growth rates in height and diameter were affected in different ways by fertilization and species according to successional status (Fig. 3 a,b). For non-pioneers species (NP), the RGR-height was not affected by fertilization, while there were differences among species. The values of RGR-height for *D. odorota* were approximately two times higher than *C. guianensis*. For RGR-diameter, NP exhibited no significant effect on all treatments. Conversely, the pioneer species (P) showed a significant difference of RGR in height and diameter as affected by fertilization. *C. alliodora* and *C. fissilis* had values 44.5 and 36% higher for height and diameter, respectively, under +P than -P. *A. leiocarpa* showed average values of height 27% and 46% higher than *G. ulmifolia*, for +P and -P, respectively, while the interspecific differences of diameter were not significant.

Fertilization treatment (P ₂ O ₅)	pH _{H20}	pH _{KCL}	Р	K^{+}	Fe ²⁺	Zn ²⁺	Mn ²⁺	Ca ²⁺	Mg^{2+}	H+A1	С	SOM	SB	V%
0 kg ha ⁻¹	5.4±0.1ª	$4.4{\pm}0.1^{a}$	$3.0{\pm}0.3^{a}$	$55.9{\pm}5.4^{a}$	120.4±1.6 ^a	$41.2{\pm}15.6^{a}$	$9.5{\pm}3.5^{a}$	$223.3{\pm}20.8^a$	101.7 ± 17.5^{a}	4.9±0.3ª	16.7 ± 1.2^{a}	28.8±2.0 ^a	1.9±0.1ª	$27.9{\pm}2.3^{a}$
160 kg ha ⁻¹	5.4±0.1ª	$4.4{\pm}0.1^{a}$	20.9 ± 0.2^{b}	60.2±8.1ª	166.1 ± 5.7^{b}	36.9±17.3 ^a	$9.9{\pm}1.7^{a}$	325.0±65ª	$101.7{\pm}12.5^{a}$	$5.4{\pm}0.0^{a}$	17.6 ± 1.8^{a}	$30.4{\pm}3.2^{a}$	2.4±0.3 ^a	$31.4{\pm}3.2^{a}$
Carbon (C) soil organic matter (SOM) sum of bases (SB) subsequently base saturation (V%). Equal letters between fertilization treatments show														

Table 2 Chemical characteristics and soil fertility as affected by fertilization treatments after 24 months of planting (n = 3).

Carbon (C), soil organic matter (SOM), sum of bases (SB), subsequently base saturation (V%). Equal letters between fertilization treatments show no significant difference according to Duncan's post hoc test (p > 0.05).



Fig. 2 Survival (-P; a, +P; b) and growth height (-P; c, +P; d) and diameter (-P; e, +P; f) of pioneers and non-pioneers species submitted to contrasting phosphorus fertilization treatments (- P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹; + P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) over 24 months. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c); *Swietenia macrophylla* (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).

Species	$0 \text{ kg } P_2O_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}(-P)$	$160 \text{ kg } P_2O_5 \text{ ha}^{-1} (+P)$
Pioneers		
C.fissilis	$100\pm0^{\rm a}$	$100\pm0^{\mathrm{a}}$
C.alliodora	100 ± 0^{a}	100 ± 0^{a}
A.leiocarpa	87 ± 23^a	87 ± 23^a
E.fusca	2 ± 1^{b}	100 ± 0^{a}
G.ulmifolia	100 ± 0^{a}	$100\pm0^{\mathrm{a}}$
Non-pioneers		
C.guianensis	$100\pm0^{\rm a}$	$100\pm0^{\mathrm{a}}$
B.excelsa	100 ± 0^{a}	87 ± 23^{a}
D.odorata	100 ± 0^{a}	91 ± 17^{a}
H.courbaril	77 ± 23^{a}	$100\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$
S.macrophylla	95 ± 9^{a}	$100\pm0.00^{\mathrm{a}}$

Table 3 Survival rates (%) (mean \pm standard deviation) 24 months after planting of tenAmazonian forest species submitted to contrasting phosphorus fertilization.

Equal letters show no significant difference for the interaction of the two factors according to Duncan's post hoc test (p > 0.05). Averages are compared between rows and columns.



Fig. 3 Relative growth rates in height (a) and diameter (b) (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001 ***).

Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c); *Swietenia macrophylla* (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).

3.3 Effects of phosphorus fertilization on photosynthesis-related traits 3.3.1 SPAD

We observed significant effects of fertilization and species on SPAD measurements only for pioneers group (Fig. 4). Fertilization had a positive effect on the increase of SPAD values. *C. alliodora* had values 17% higher when fertilized. *A. leiocarpa* showed the highest values, being 33% and 28%, higher than *C. fissilis* for -P and + P, respectively.



Fig. 4 SPAD values (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and nonpioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001 ***). Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according

to Duncan's test. Carapa guianensis, (C.g); Bertholletia excelsa, (B.e); Dipteryx odorata, (D.o); Hymenaea courbaril (H.c); Swietenia macrophylla (S.m); Cedrela fissilis (C.f); Cordia alliodora (C.a); Apuleia leiocarpa, (A.l), Erythrina fusca, (E.f); Guazuma ulmifolia, (G.u).

3.3.2 Fluorescence parameters

The effects of fertilization on photochemical performance across all species were dependent on the fluorescence parameter analyzed and the time of measurements. Fertilization did not significantly affect the maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (F_v/F_m) of species during pre-dawn and midday measurements (Fig. 5 a,b). Interspecific differences were observed for the performance index (PI_{ABS}). *A. leiocarpa* exhibited the highest values across all species during pre-dawn and midday (Fig. 5 c,d). Fertilization had marginal effects on the total performance index (PI_{total}) of pioneers species during midday (Fig. 5 f). The fertilization effect was most evident for *C. fissilis* species, which had values four-fold higher in +P than -P. Similar to PI_{ABS}, the highest values of PI_{total} were also observed for *A. leiocarpa*, which was four-fold higher than *C. alliodora*.



Fig. 5 Maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (Fv/Fm) (pre-dawn: a, and midday: b), photochemical performance index (PI_{ABS}) (pre-dawn: c, and mid-day: d), and total photochemical performance index (PI_{total}) (pre-dawn: e, and mid-day: f) (mean \pm SD), of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non- pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c); *Swietenia macrophylla* (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).

3.3.3 Gas exchange

The values of maximum photosynthesis per unit mass (A_{mass}) were different only for non-pioneer species and were not significantly affected by fertilization (Fig. 6 a). *H. courbaril* had values 43% and 38% higher than *C. guianensis* for -P and + P, respectively. Fertilization affected the stomatal conductance (g_s) and transpiration (*E*) of pioneers species (Fig. 6 b,c). The species most positively affected by fertilization was *C. alliodora*, with values 37% (g_s) and 31% (*E*) higher when fertilized. *A. leiocarpa* showed the highest values of g_s and *E*, that was between 70 and 50% (-P and +P) higher than *C. fissilis* for g_s and, between 42 and 28% (-P and +P) for *E* compared to the same species. Significant interspecific differences were observed for R_d with *A. leiocarpa* exhibiting the highest values across all species (Fig. 6 d).



Fig. 6 Maximum photosynthesis per unit mass (A_{mass}; a) stomatal conductance (g_s; b) transpiration (E; c) and dark respiration (R_d; d), (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non- pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c);

Swietenia macrophylla (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).

3.3.4 Leaf nutrient content

The leaf phosphorus content was significantly affected by fertilization treatment for pioneers and non-pioneers species (Fig. 7 b). *G. ulmifolia* and *C. guianensis* exhibited values approximately 39% and 46.5% higher when submitted to phosphorus fertilization. *H. courbaril* had values 21 and 37% higher than *D. odorata* in -P and +P, respectively. The leaf nitrogen content was significantly affected by the species in both pioneers and non-pioneers groups. The phosphorus fertilization (+ P) affected only the group of nonpioneers. Interspecific differences were stronger than the effects of fertilization. *B. excelsa*, *D. odorata* and *H. courbaril* had the highest values of nitrogen leaf content among non-pioneers species, while *C. fissilis*, *A. leiocarpa* and *C. alliodora* did it among pioneers species (Fig. 7 a). The N/P ratio reduced significantly across species as affected by phosphorus fertilization (Fig. 8). The highest reductions were observed for *C. alliodora* and *D. odorata*, which also exhibited the highest values of this parameter under -P.

Phosphorus fertilization decreased the potassium leaf content for all species (Fig. 7 c). *C. alliodora* (under -P) exhibited the highest values among pioneers species. For other nutrients, interspecific differences were more evident than those resulted by fertilization. Overall, *C. alliodora* showed the highest values of Ca, Mg and Zn (Fig. 7 d,e,g). Exception for Mn in pioneers species, the micronutrients were not affected by phosphorus fertilization.



Fig. 7 Macro (N; a, P; b, K; c, Mg; d, Ca; e) and micronutrients (Fe; f, Zn; g, Mn; h) leaf content (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). Mean values followed by the

same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c); *Swietenia macrophylla* (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).



Fig. 8 N/P ratio (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e); *Dipteryx odorata*, (D.o); *Hymenaea courbaril* (H.c); *Swietenia macrophylla* (S.m); *Cedrela fissilis* (C.f); *Cordia alliodora* (C.a); *Apuleia leiocarpa*, (A.l), *Erythrina fusca*, (E.f); *Guazuma ulmifolia*, (G.u).

3.3.5 Photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency

Phosphorus fertilization decreased the photosynthetic phosphorus use efficiency of non-pioneer species, with exception for *B. excelsa* and *D. odorata*, which also had the

highest values of this parameter among non-pioneers species (Fig. 9 b). *B. excelsa* was the only species increasing the values of nitrogen use efficiency after phosphorus fertilization (Fig. 9 a). Phosphorus fertilization increased the values of potassium use efficiency across all species, mainly for non-pioneer group (Fig. 9 c). For other nutrients, with exception of PZnUE in pioneers species, we observed significant differences only among species. Overall, *A. leiocarpa* (pioneers group) and *D. odorata*, *H. courbaril* and *S. macrophylla* (non-pioneers group) exhibited the highest values of PMgUE, PCaUE, PFeUE, PZnUE and PMnUE (Fig. 9 d,e,f,g,h).



Fig. 9 Photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency (PNUE; a, PPUE; b, PKUE; c, PMgUE; d, PCaUE; e, PFeUE; f, PZnUE; g, PMnUE; h) (mean \pm SD) of nine Amazonian tree species (pioneers and non-pioneers) subjected to contrasting P fertilization (-P = 0 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ and +P = 160 P₂O₅ kg ha⁻¹) (n = 3). (p> 0.05 ns; p<0.05 *; p<0.01 **; p<0.001***). Mean values followed by the same letters for the species and treatments are not different at P < 0.05 according to Duncan's test. *Carapa guianensis*, (C.g); *Bertholletia excelsa*, (B.e);

Dipteryx odorata, (D.o); Hymenaea courbaril (H.c); Swietenia macrophylla (S.m); Cedrela fissilis (C.f); Cordia alliodora (C.a); Apuleia leiocarpa, (A.l), Erythrina fusca, (E.f); Guazuma ulmifolia, (G.u).

4 Discussion

Phosphorus fertilization improved the availability of P in the soil (Table 2) and allowed greater absorption by trees (Fig. 6 and 7). Positive effects of phosphorus supply on the nutritional status of forest species have been shown in plants cultivated mainly in the greenhouse (Seabra et al. 2017; Araújo et al. 2018). Here, we demonstrated the increase of phosphorus leaf content after fertilization across species belong to different successional groups in field conditions. However, similar patterns of increasing were not observed for other nutrients. Conversely, potassium leaf content reduced in all species after fertilization (Fig. 7 c). Phosphorus supply also induced a decline in the potassium leaf content in Swietenia macrophylla seedlings (Seabra et al. 2017). The low concentration of potassium in plants subjected to phosphorus fertilization may be in part due to its role in the growth of meristematic tissues (Mengel 1985), being that the increase in growth rates as affected by fertilization may be induced a higher demand for this nutrient for the growth of different organs. Values of N:P above 20 (Güsewell 2004) suggested high phosphorus limitation for C. alliodora, A. leiocarpa (pioneers species) and B. excelsa, D. odorata (non-pioneers species) under control -P. However, A. *leiocarpa* and *D. odorata* kept their growth rates similar to phosphorus fertilization treatment, while E. fusca, a fast-growing leguminous species, showed high mortality in -P. Overall, corroborating Resende et al. (1999), the growth of pioneers species was more responsive to phosphorus supply than non-pioneers species. These results indicate that the establishment responses (survival and growth) induced by phosphorus fertilization in Amazonian tree species are species-specific.

Phosphorus fertilization improved the mechanisms of light absorption (SPAD values) and processing (chlorophyll *a* fluorescence parameters) of pioneers species, this last manly at midday according to total performance index. The positive effects of phosphorus supply to enhance light using are substantial for plants growing under full sunlight, since that the excess of energy absorbed not used for photosynthetic pathways may induce photo-oxidative stress in phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron

transport chain have been related to impair on the ATP production, while the levels of NADPH continue increasing and, hence reduces CO₂ fixation (Carstensen et al. 2018). Contrary to our expectations, in this research, the increase in the leaf P content in response to fertilization did not result in a significant increase in the photosynthesis rates at the leaf-level. The phosphorus fertilization had only marginal effects on photosynthesis across all species despite improving on the carbon capture rate (stomatal conductance) of pioneers species. We believe that the main reasons for not significant effects of phosphorus supply on the carbon assimilation include methodological and functional issues as follow: first, the analysis at individual leaf-level may not represent the real effect on the carbon gain at crown level (Santos et al. 2018), due the changes in total leaf area per plant not measured (Grady et al. 2013); second, the fact of photosynthetic performance may be more influenced by the allocation strategies of nutrients within the leaf than total leaf nutrient content (Dusenge et al. 2015), since that fast-growing species tend to make greater investments in structural P (Villar et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2018) and slow-growing species tend to invest more P in nucleic and residual acids than in metabolic P (Zhang et al. 2018); third, the significant reduction on the N:P ratios of the species C. guianensis, H. courbaril and S. macrophylla may have contributed to the absence of phosphorus supply effects on the photosynthesis for non-pioneers successional group, where the most of N leaf is an integral part of the proteins of the photosynthetic machinery, especially ribulose -1.5 - bisphosphate carboxylase oxygenase (Rubisco) (Poorter and Evans 1998) and, thus, an unbalance on the N:P stoichiometric may compromise the effects of phosphorus supply on the photosynthetic performance of plants (Stitt and Schulze. 1994); fourth, the decline of K leaf content after fertilization can also have reduced the significance of increasing on the P leaf content for photosynthesis.

Phosphorus supply reduced the photosynthetic phosphorus use-efficiency mainly for non-pioneers species. This result was partially due to the not significant effects of phosphorus fertilization on photosynthesis at the leaf-level. Cordell (2001) also found that the phosphorus fertilization in an environment limited by P reduced the efficiency of the use of this nutrient. This author associated the decrease in efficiency with the increase in the concentration of leaf P and constant photosynthetic rate. The not significant effects of fertilization on the growth of non-pioneers species may have induced a low demand for this nutrient for trees growth and hence high leaf concentrations. Forest species growing in soils poor in P normally show high nutrient use-efficiency (Zhang et al. 2018). However, keep this strategy will depend on the biomass increasing at the same ratio as the nutrient uptake and accumulation after fertilization that, in turn, is determined mainly by the successional status, growth rates and seed size (Resende et al. 2005). Interestingly, *A. leiocarpa* and *D. odorota*, species that kept their growth rates in control -P, exhibited the highest values of magnesium and calcium use-efficiency. Amazonian trees, like *Bertholletia excelsa* Bonpl., have shown a significant increase in the growth as affected by improvement in the availability of Mg and Ca (Schroth et al. 2015).

Our findings have important implications for the establishment of plantations using Amazonian tree species in P-limited soils: we showed that the effects of phosphorus supply on the survival and growth are species-specific, suggesting more detailed studies of forest nutrition related to each priority species and not only according to successional status; the positive effects of phosphorus fertilization on the light absorption and processing of pioneers species are important to the establishment of plantations, since that these species are normally the first to be planted in a restoration project in open areas; the capacity of A. leiocarpa and D. odorota maintain growth despite low soil phosphorus availability reveals the high potential of these species for plantations in P-limited soils and suggest additional research on the mechanisms behind of these responses; the best growth responses of C. fissilis and C. alliodora to fertilization suggest the importance of phosphorus supply to the planting of these species; the high mortality in short-term of E. *fusca*, a fast-growing leguminous species, can indicate the not sustainability for the planting of leguminous trees in P-limited soils and; future research should be realized accessing the interspecific differences on the above- and belowground biomass as affected by phosphorus fertilization.

5 Conclusions

Phosphorus fertilization affects the initial establishment of Amazonian trees in a species-specific way. The fertilization increases the phosphorus absorption by plants, whereas reduces the use efficiency due to no significant effects on carbon assimilation at the leaf-level. Phosphorus supply improves light absorption and processing of pioneers species suggesting relieve the effects of photo-oxidative stress on the initial establishment of seedlings under full sunlight.

6 References

Alvarado, A (2015) Plant nutrition in tropical forestry. Tropical forestry handbook, 2: 1113-1202. https://doi:10.1007/978-3-642-41554-8 105-2.

Araújo, AC, Nobre, AD, Kruijt, B, Elbers, JA, Dallarosa, R, Stefani, P, ... Valentini, R (2002) Comparative measurements of carbon dioxide fluxes from two nearby towers in a central Amazonian rainforest: The Manaus LBA site. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 107(D20), LBA-58. https://doi:10.1029/2001JD000676, 2002.

Barrow, NJ (1977) Phosphorus uptake and utilization by tree seedlings. Australian Journal of Botany, 25(6), 571-584. https://doi: 10.1071 / bt9770571.

Bremner, JM (1996) Nitrogênio total. Métodos de análise de solo: Parte 3 Métodos químicos, 5, 1085-1121. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssabookser5.3.c37.

Bugbee, BG (1996) Growth analyses and yield components. In: Salisbury, FB (Ed.). Units, Symbols and Terminology for plant physiology. Oxford University Press, 115-119.

Campoe, OC, Iannelli, C, Stape, JL, Cook, RL, Mendes, JCT, Vivian, R (2014) Atlantic forest tree species responses to silvicultural practices in a degraded pasture restoration plantation: From leaf physiology to survival and initial growth. Forest Ecology and Management, 313, 233-242. https://doi: 10.1016 / j.foreco.2013.11.016.

Carstensen, A, Herdean, A, Schmidt, SB, Sharma, A, Spetea, C, Pribil, M, Husted, S (2018) The impacts of phosphorus deficiency on the photosynthetic electron transport chain. Plant physiology, 177(1): 271-284. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.17.01624.

Ceccon, E, Huante, P, Campo, J (2003) Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on the survival and recruitment of seedlings of dominant tree species in two abandoned tropical dry forests in Yucatán, Mexico. Forest ecology and management, 182(1-3): 387-402. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00085-9.

Chave, J, Coomes, D, Jansen, S, Lewis, SL, Swenson, NG, Zanne, A E (2009) Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. Ecology letters, 12(4): 351-366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01285.x.

Cordell, S, Goldstein, G, Meinzer, FC, Vitousek, PM (2001) Regulation of leaf life-span and nutrient-use efficiency of Metrosideros polymorpha trees at two extremes of a long chronosequence in Hawaii. Oecologia, 127(2): 198-206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420000588.

Fonseca, CA, de Paiva, HN, & Neves, JCL (2011) Resposta de mudas de Senna macranthera cultivadas em Argissolo Vermelho-Amarelo a macronutrientes. Ciência Florestal, 21(1): 63-76. https://doi.org/10.5902/198050982748.

da Silva Araújo, M, Coneglian, A, Hodecker, BER, Pelá, A, Gonçalves, RN, Rocha, EC (2018) Initial growth of Brazilian firetree (Schizolobium parahyba (Vell.) SF Blake) fertilized with phosphorus in Red-Yellow Latosol. Australian Journal of Crop Science, 12(7): 1108. https://doi: 10.21475/ajcs.18.12.07.PNE1035.

Dalling, JW, Hubbell, SP (2002) Seed size, growth rate and gap microsite conditions as determinants of recruitment success for pioneer species. Journal of Ecology, 557-568. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3072239.

Domingues, TF, Meir, P, Feldpausch, TR, Saiz, G, Veenendaal, EM, Schrodt, F, ... Diallo, A (2010) Co-limitation of photosynthetic capacity by nitrogen and phosphorus in West Africa woodlands. Plant, Cell & Environment, 33(6): 959-980. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2010.02119.x.

dos Santos Jr, UM, de Carvalho Gonçalves, JF, Feldpausch, TR (2006) Growth, leaf nutrient concentration and photosynthetic nutrient use efficiency in tropical tree species planted in degraded areas in central Amazonia. Forest Ecology and Management, 226(1-3): 299-309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.01.042.

Driessche, RV D (1980) Effects of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on Douglas-fir nursery growth and survival after outplanting. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 10(1): 65-70. https://doi.org/10.1139/x80-011.

Dusenge, ME, Wallin, G, Gårdesten, J, Niyonzima, F, Adolfsson, L, Nsabimana, D, Uddling, J (2015) Photosynthetic capacity of tropical montane tree species in relation to leaf nutrients, successional strategy and growth temperature. Oecologia, 177(4), 1183-1194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3260-3.

Evans, J, Poorter, H (2001) Photosynthetic acclimation of plants to growth irradiance: the relative importance of specific leaf area and nitrogen partitioning in maximizing carbon gain. Plant, Cell & Environment, 24(8): 755-767. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3040.2001.00724.x.

Ferreira, MJ, Gonçalves, JFC, Ferraz, JBS, Corrêa, VM (2015) Características nutricionais de plantas jovens de Bertholletia excelsa Bonpl. Sob tratamentos de fertilização em área degradada na Amazônia. Scientia Forestalis, 43(108), 863-872. DOI: 10.18671/scifor.v43n108.11.

Field, C, Mooney, HA (1986) The photosynthesis-nitrogen relationship in wild plants. P. 25–55. in: On the economy of plant form and function, Givnish, T.J. (ed.). University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Fleischer, K, Rammig, A, De Kauwe, MG, Walker, A P, Domingues, TF, Fuchslueger, L, ... Haverd, V (2019) Amazon forest response to CO 2 fertilization dependent on plant phosphorus acquisition. Nature Geoscience, 12(9): 736-741. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0404-9.

Fonseca, CA, de Paiva, HN, Neves, JCL (2011) Resposta de mudas de Senna macranthera cultivadas em Argissolo Vermelho-Amarelo a macronutrientes. Ciência Florestal, 21(1): 63-76. https://doi.org/10.5902/198050982748.

Furtini neto, AE, Siqueira, JO, Curi, N, Moreira, FM (2000) Fertilização em reflorestamento com espécies nativas. Nutrição e fertilização florestal. Piracicaba: IPEF, 351-383.

Grady, KC, Laughlin, DC, Ferrier, SM, Kolb, TE, Hart, SC, Allan, GJ, Whitham, TG (2013) Conservative leaf economic traits correlate with fast growth of genotypes of a foundation riparian species near the thermal maximum extent of its geographic range. Functional Ecology, 27(2): 428-438. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12060.

Groves, RH, Keraitis, K (1976) Survival and growth of seedlings of three sclerophyll species at high levels of phosphorus and nitrogen. Australian Journal of Botany, 24(6): 681-690. https://doi.org/10.1071/BT9760681.

Guillaumet, JL, Kahn, F (1982) Structure et dynamisme de la forêt. Acta Amazonica, 12, 61-77. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-43921982123S061.

Guimarães, ZTM, Dos Santos, VAHF, Nogueira, WLP, de Almeida Martins, NO, Ferreira, MJ (2018) Leaf traits explaining the growth of tree species planted in a Central Amazonian disturbed area. Forest Ecology and Management, 430, 618-628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.08.048.

Güsewell, S (2004) N: P ratios in terrestrial plants: variation and functional significance. New phytologist, 164(2): 243-266. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01192.x.

Hernández, I, Munné-Bosch, S (2015) Linking phosphorus availability with photooxidative stress in plants. Journal of experimental botany, 66(10): 2889-2900. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erv056.

Hidaka, A, Kitayama, K (2009) Divergent patterns of photosynthetic phosphorus-use efficiency versus nitrogen-use efficiency of tree leaves along nutrient-availability gradients. Journal of Ecology, 97(5), 984-991.

Hidaka, A, K, Kitayama (2013) Relationship between photosynthetic phosphorus-use efficiency and foliar phosphorus fractions in tropical tree species. Ecology and evolution, 3(15): 4872-4880. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01540.x.

Hou, E, Luo, Y, Kuang, Y, Chen, C, Lu, X, Jiang, L, ... Wen, D (2020) Global metaanalysis shows pervasive phosphorus limitation of aboveground plant production in natural terrestrial ecosystems. Nature communications, 11(1): 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14492-w.

Huante, P, Rincón, E, Acosta, I (1995) Nutrient availability and growth rate of 34 woody species from a tropical deciduous forest in Mexico. Functional Ecology, 849-858. DOI: 10.2307 / 2389982.

Hunt R (1990) Basic Plant Growth Analysis. Unwin, Hyman, London.

Instituto Nacional de Meteorologia, (2019) BDMEP - Banco de Dados Meteorologicos para Ensino e Pesquisa. http://www.inpe.br/cra/projetos_pesquisas/arquivos/TerraClass_2014_v3.pdf.

Ketterings, QM, van Noordwijk, M, Bigham, JM (2002) Soil phosphorus availability after slash-and-burn fires of different intensities in rubber agroforests in Sumatra, Indonesia. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 92(1): 37-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(01)00287-0.

Luo, Y, Liu, J, Tan, S, Cadotte, MW, Xu, K, Gao, L, Li, D (2016) Trait variation and functional diversity maintenance of understory herbaceous species coexisting along an

elevational gradient in Yulong Mountain, Southwest China. Plant diversity, 38(6): 303-311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pld.2016.11.002.

Luvison, M (2018) Estabelecimento Inicial De Espécies Florestais De Contrastantes Grupos Sucessionais Submetidas À Fertilização Fosfatada. Dissertação (mestrado) -INPA, Manaus.

Martínez-Garza, C, Bongers, F, Poorter, L (2013) Are functional traits good predictors of species performance in restoration plantings in tropical abandoned pastures?. Forest Ecology and Management, 303, 35-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.03.046.

McGrath, DA, CK, Smith, HL, Gholz, F, de Assis Oliveira. 2001. Effects of land-use change on soil nutrient dynamics in Amazonia. Ecosystems, 4(7): 625-645. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-001-0033-0.

McLean, EO (1965) Aluminum. Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 2 Chemical and Microbiological Properties, 9: 978-998.

Mengel, K (1985) Potassium movement within plants and its importance in assimilate transport. Potassium in agriculture, 397-411. https://doi.org/10.2134/1985.potassium.c16.

Milberg, P ER, Lamont, BB (1997) Seed/cotyledon size and nutrient content play a major role in early performance of species on nutrient-poor soils. *The New Phytologist*, *137*(4), 665-672. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00870.x.

Miyazawa, M, Pavan, MA, Muraoka, T, Carmo, CAFS, Mello, WJ (1999) Análise Química De Tecidos Vegetais. In: Silva, FC (Eds.). Manual de Análise Química de Solos, Plantas e Fertilizantes. EMBRAPA, Brasília, Brasil, 172-223.

Mo, Q, Li, ZA, Sayer, EJ, Lambers, H, Li, Y, Zou, B, ... Wang, F (2019) Foliar phosphorus fractions reveal how tropical plants maintain photosynthetic rates despite low soil phosphorus availability. Functional Ecology, 33(3): 503-513. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13252.

Moreira, A, Fageria, NK (2009) Soil chemical attributes of Amazonas state, Brazil. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 40(17-18): 2912-2925. https://doi.org/10.1080/00103620903175371. Murphy, JAMES, Riley, JP (1962) A modified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. Analytica chimica acta, 27: 31-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(00)88444-5.

Nave, AG, Rodrigues, RR (2007) Combination of species into filling and diversity groups as forest restoration methodology. High Diversity Forest Restoration in Degraded Areas. Nova Science Publishers, New York, 103-126.

Parrotta, JA, Turnbull, JW, Jones, N (1997) Catalyzing native forest regeneration on degraded tropical lands. Forest Ecology and Management, 99(1-2): 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(97)00190-4.

Poorter, H, Evans, JR (1998) Photosynthetic nitrogen-use efficiency of species that differ inherently in specific leaf area. Oecologia, 116(1-2): 26-37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050560.

Poorter, L, Bongers, F (2006) Leaf traits are good predictors of plant performance across 53 rain forest species. Ecology, 87(7): 1733-1743. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[1733:LTAGPO]2.0.CO;2.

Poorter, L, SJ, Wright, H., Paz, DD, Ackerly, R, Condit, G, Ibarra-Manríquez, ... HC, Muller-Landau. (2008). Are functional traits good predictors of demographic rates? Evidence from five neotropical forests. Ecology, 89(7): 1908-1920. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0207.1.

Quesada, CA, Phillips, OL, Schwarz, M, Czimczik, CI, Baker, TR, Patiño, S, ... Dávila, EA (2012) Basin-wide variations in Amazon forest structure and function are mediated by both soils and climate. Biogeosciences, 9(6): 2203-2246. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-9-2203-2012.

Resende, ÁVD, Furtini Neto, AE, Muniz, JA, Curi, N, Faquin, V (1999) Crescimento inicial de espécies florestais de diferentes grupos sucessionais em resposta a doses de fósforo. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 34(11): 2071-2081. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X1999001100014.

Resende, AV, Furtini Neto, AE, Curi, N (2005) Mineral nutrition and fertilization of native tree species in Brazil: research progress and suggestions for management. Journal of Sustainable Forestry, 20(2): 45-81. https://doi.org/10.1300/J091v20n02_03.

Rubilar, RA, Allen, HL, Fox, TR, Cook, RL, Albaugh, TJ, Campoe, OC (2018) Advances in silviculture of intensively managed plantations. Current Forestry Reports, 4(1): 23-34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-018-0072-9.

Santos, VAHFD, Ferreira, MJ, Rodrigues, JVFC, Garcia, MN, Ceron, JVB, Nelson, BW, Saleska, SR (2018) Causes of reduced leaf-level photosynthesis during strong El Niño drought in a Central Amazon forest. Global change biology, 24(9): 4266-4279. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14293.

Schroth, G, da Mota, MDSS, de Assis Elias, ME (2015) Growth and nutrient accumulation of Brazil nut trees (Bertholletia excelsa) in agroforestry at different fertilizer levels. Journal of forestry research, 26(2): 347-353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-015-0037-9.

Seabra, CE, Osiecka, A, Tucci, CA, Minogue, PJ, Pereira, BF, Andersen, PC (2018) Influence of phosphorus limitations on the growth, nutrient partitioning and physiology of mahogany (Swietenia macrophylla King) seedlings. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 41(3): 358-370. https://doi.org/10.1080/01904167.2017.1385803.

da Silva, IR, Neto, AEF, Curi, N, do Vale, FR (1997) Crescimento inicial de quatorze espécies florestais nativas em resposta à adubação potássica. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 32(2): 205-212.

Sombroek, W (2001) Spatial and temporal patterns of Amazon rainfall. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 30(7): 388-396. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-30.7.388.

Sterck, FJ, Poorter, L, Schieving, F (2006) Leaf traits determine the growth-survival trade-off across rain forest tree species. The American Naturalist, 167(5): 758-765. Doi: 10.1086 / 503056.

Stitt, M, Schulze, D (1994) Does Rubisco control the rate of photosynthesis and plant growth? An exercise in molecular ecophysiology. Plant, Cell & Environment, 17(5): 465-487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1994.tb00144.x.

Strasserf, RJ, Srivastava, A, Govindjee (1995) Polyphasic chlorophyll a fluorescence transient in plants and cyanobacteria. Photochemistry and photobiology, 61(1): 32-42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.1995.tb09240.x.

Strasser, RJ, Srivastava, A, Tsimilli-Michael, M (1999) Screening the vitality and photosynthetic activity of plants by fuorescence transient. In: Behl RK, Punia MS, Lather BPS (eds) Crop improvement for food security. SSARM, Hisar, pp 72–115.

Strasser, RJ, Tsimilli-Michael, M, Giang, S, Goltsev, V (2010) Simultaneous in vivo recording of prompt and delayed fluorescence and 820-nm reflection changes during drying and after rehydration of the resurrection plant. Haberlea rhodopensis.Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics, 1797, 1313-1326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.03.008.

Swaine, MD, Whitmore, TC (1988) On the definition of ecological species groups in tropical rain forests. Vegetatio, 75(1-2), 81-86. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00044629.

Thomas, GW (1996) Soil pH and soil acidity. In 'Methods of soil analysis. Part 3. Chemical methods'. Soil Science Society of America: Madison, WI. (Ed. DL Sparks) pp. 475–490.

Tng, DY, Janos, DP, Jordan, GJ, Weber, E, Bowman, DM (2014) Phosphorus limits Eucalyptus grandis seedling growth in an unburnt rain forest soil. Frontiers in plant science, 5, 527. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00527.

Tsimilli-Michael, M, Strasser, RJ (2008) In vivo assessment of stress impact on plant's vitality: applications in detecting and evaluating the beneficial role of mycorrhization on host plants. In mycorrhiza (pp. 679-703). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-78826-3 32.

Tucci, CAF, Santos, JZL, da Silva Júnior, CH, de Souza, PA, Batista, IMP, Venturin, N (2011) Desenvolvimento de mudas de *Swietenia macrophylla* em resposta a nitrogênio, fósforo e potássio. Floresta, 41(3): http://dx.doi.org/10.5380/rf.v41i3.24039.

Uddin, MB, Mukul, SA, Khan, MASA, Hossain, MK (2009) Seedling response of three agroforestry tree species to phosphorous fertilizer application in Bangladesh: growth and nodulation capabilities. Journal of Forestry Research, 20(1): 45-48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11676-009-0007-1.

Villar, R, Robleto, JR, De Jong, Y, Poorter, H (2006) Differences in construction costs and chemical composition between deciduous and evergreen woody species are small as compared to differences among families. Plant, Cell & Environment, 29(8): 1629-1643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.01540.x. Vitousek, PM, Porder, S, Houlton, BZ, Chadwick, OA (2010) Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen–phosphorus interactions. Ecological applications, 20(1): 5-15. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0127.1.

Walker, TW, Syers, JK (1976) The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. Geoderma, 15(1): 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7061(76)90066-5.

Walkley, A, Black, IA (1934) An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. Soil science, 37(1): 29-38. doi: 10.1097 / 00010694-193401000-00003.

Warren, CR (2011) How does P affect photosynthesis and metabolite profiles ofEucalyptusglobulus?. Treephysiology, 31(7):727-739.https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpr064.

Whitmore, TC (1989) Canopy gaps and the two major groups of forest tree. Ecology, 70(3): 536-538. DOI: 10.2307 / 1940195.

Wright, IJ, Reich, PB, Westoby, M, Ackerly, DD, Baruch, Z, Bongers, F, ... Flexas, J (2004) The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature, 428(6985), 821-827. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02403.

Wright, SJ, Kitajima, K, Kraft, NJ, Reich, PB, Wright, IJ, Bunker, DE, ... Engelbrecht, B M (2010) Functional traits and the growth–mortality trade-off in tropical trees. Ecology, 91(12): 3664-3674. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-2335.1.

Zavišić, A, Polle, A (2018) Dynamics of phosphorus nutrition, allocation and growth of young beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) trees in P-rich and P-poor forest soil. Tree physiology, 38(1): 37-51. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpx146.

Zhang, G, Zhang, L, Wen, D (2018) Photosynthesis of subtropical forest species from different successional status in relation to foliar nutrients and phosphorus fractions. Scientific reports, 8(1): 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28800-4.

7 Conclusão geral

Os resultados são importantes para o entendimento do estabelecimento inicial de espécies florestais em áreas com limitação de P. Apesar da fertilização química aumentar a disponibilidade de P, as respostas a esse aumento foram específicas. Apesar dos altos valores na relação N/P foliar, espécies como *Apuleia leiocarpa* (pioneira) e *Dipteryx*

odorata (não pioneira), mantiveram altas taxas de crescimento em solos limitados por P, apresentando pouca ou nenhuma resposta a fertilização fosfatada. Por outro lado, *Erythrina fusca* (pioneira) apresentou alta mortalidade quando não fertilizada, mostrando limitação a disponibilidade do nutriente. Apesar dos valores de assimilação de carbono em nível foliar não serem afetados pela disponibilidade de P, características de captura de carbono (g_s), absorção (SPAD) e processamento de luz (PI_{total}), tiveram seu desempenho afetado. Esse efeito foi evidenciado principalmente nas espécies pioneiras. As respostas do grupo para essas características são importantes visto que as espécies pioneiras são as primeiras a serem inseridas em plantios a pleno sol. Sugerimos estudos futuros acessando as diferenças interespecíficas em resposta à disponibilidade de fósforo para biomassa acima e abaixo do solo com o objetivo de melhor entender a dinâmica de crescimento das espécies.

8 Referências bibliográficas

Alvarez-Clare, S, Mack, MC, Brooks, M (2013) A direct test of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation to net primary productivity in a lowland tropical wet forest. Ecology, 94(7): 1540-1551.

Boege, K (2005) Herbivore attack in Casearia nitida influenced by plant ontogenetic variation in foliage quality and plant architecture. Oecologia, 143(1): 117-125.

Chave, J, Coomes, D, Jansen, S, Lewis, SL, Swenson, NG, Zanne, AE (2009) Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. Ecology letters, 12(4): 351-366.

da Silva, IR, Neto, AEF, Curi, N, do Vale, FR (1997) Crescimento inicial de quatorze espécies florestais nativas em resposta à adubação potássica. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 32(2): 205-212.

Dalling, JW, Hubbell, SP (2002) Seed size, growth rate and gap microsite conditions as determinants of recruitment success for pioneer species. Journal of Ecology, 557-568.

Domingues, TF, Meir, P, Feldpausch, TR, Saiz, G, Veenendaal, EM, Schrodt, F, ... Diallo, A (2010) Co-limitation of photosynthetic capacity by nitrogen and phosphorus in West Africa woodlands. Plant, Cell & Environment, 33(6): 959-980.

Fleischer, K, Rammig, A, De Kauwe, MG, Walker, AP, Domingues, TF, Fuchslueger, L, ... Haverd, V (2019) Amazon forest response to CO₂ fertilization dependent on plant phosphorus acquisition. Nature Geoscience, 12(9): 736-741.

Guimarães, ZTM, Dos Santos, VAHF, Nogueira, WLP, de Almeida Martins, NO, Ferreira, MJ (2018) Leaf traits explaining the growth of tree species planted in a Central Amazonian disturbed area. Forest Ecology and Management, 430, 618-628.

Hidaka, A, Kitayama, K (2013) Relationship between photosynthetic phosphorus-use efficiency and foliar phosphorus fractions in tropical tree species. Ecology and evolution, 3(15): 4872-4880.

Huang, W, Liu, J, Wang, YP, Zhou, G, Han, T, Li, Y (2013) Increasing phosphorus limitation along three successional forests in southern China. Plant and Soil, 364(1-2): 181-191.

Huante, P, Rincón, E, Acosta, I (1995) Nutrient availability and growth rate of 34 woody species from a tropical deciduous forest in Mexico. Functional Ecology, 849-858.

Ketterings, QM, van Noordwijk, M, Bigham, JM (2002) Soil phosphorus availability after slash-and-burn fires of different intensities in rubber agroforests in Sumatra, Indonesia. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 92(1): 37-48.

Luo, Y, Liu, J, Tan, S, Cadotte, MW, Xu, K, Gao, L, Li, D (2016) Trait variation and functional diversity maintenance of understory herbaceous species coexisting along an elevational gradient in Yulong Mountain, Southwest China. Plant diversity, 38(6): 303-311.

Martínez-Garza, C, Bongers, F, Poorter, L (2013) Are functional traits good predictors of species performance in restoration plantings in tropical abandoned pastures?. Forest Ecology and Management, *303*, 35-45.

McGrath, DA, Smith, CK, Gholz, HL, de Assis Oliveira, F (2001) Effects of land-use change on soil nutrient dynamics in Amazonia. Ecosystems, 4(7): 625-645.

Milberg, PER, Lamont, BB (1997) Seed/cotyledon size and nutrient content play a major role in early performance of species on nutrient-poor soils. The New Phytologist, 137(4): 665-672.

Mo, Q, Li, ZA, Sayer, EJ, Lambers, H, Li, Y, Zou, B, ...Wang, F (2019) Foliar phosphorus fractions reveal how tropical plants maintain photosynthetic rates despite low soil phosphorus availability. Functional Ecology, 33(3), 503-513.

Moreira, A, Fageria, NK (2009) Soil chemical attributes of Amazonas state, Brazil. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 40(17-18): 2912-2925.

Newbery, DM, Chuyong, GB, Green, JJ, Songwe, NC, Tchuenteu, F, Zimmermann, L (2002) Does low phosphorus supply limit seedling establishment and tree growth in groves of ectomycorrhizal trees in a central African rainforest? New Phytologist, 297-311.

Poorter, L, Wright, SJ, Paz, H, Ackerly, DD, Condit, R, Ibarra-Manríquez, G, ... Muller-Landau, HC (2008) Are functional traits good predictors of demographic rates? Evidence from five neotropical forests. Ecology, 89(7):1908-1920.

Quesada, CA, Phillips, OL, Schwarz, M, Czimczik, CI, Baker, TR, Patiño, S, ... Dávila, EA (2012) Basin-wide variations in Amazon forest structure and function are mediated by both soils and climate. Biogeosciences, 9(6), 2203-2246.

Resende, ÁVD, Furtini Neto, AE, Muniz, JA, Curi, N, Faquin, V (1999) Crescimento inicial de espécies florestais de diferentes grupos sucessionais em resposta a doses de fósforo. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 34(11): 2071-2081.

Resende, AV, Furtini Neto, AE, Curi, N (2005) Mineral nutrition and fertilization of native tree species in Brazil: research progress and suggestions for management. Journal of Sustainable Forestry, 20(2): 45-81.

Santiago, LS (2015) Nutrient limitation of eco-physiological processes in tropical trees. Trees, 29(5): 1291-1300.

Sterck, FJ, Poorter, L, Schieving, F (2006) Leaf traits determine the growth-survival trade-off across rain forest tree species. The American Naturalist, 167(5): 758-765.

Swaine, MD, Whitmore, TC (1988) On the definition of ecological species groups in tropical rain forests. Vegetatio, 75(1-2): 81-86.

Tucci, CAF, Santos, JZL, da Silva Júnior, CH, de Souza, PA, Batista, IMP, Venturin, N (2011) Desenvolvimento de mudas de Swietenia macrophylla em resposta a nitrogênio, fósforo e potássio. Floresta, 41(3).

Turner, BL, Brenes-Arguedas, T, Condit, R (2018) Pervasive phosphorus limitation of tree species but not communities in tropical forests. Nature, 555(7696), 367-370.

Vitousek, PM, Farrington, H (1997) Nutrient limitation and soil development: experimental test of a biogeochemical theory. Biogeochemistry, 37(1), 63-75.

Vitousek, PM, Porder, S, Houlton, BZ, Chadwick, OA (2010) Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen–phosphorus interactions. Ecological applications, 20(1): 5-15.

Walker, TW, Syers, JK (1976) The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. Geoderma, 15(1): 1-19.

Waring, BG, Pérez-Aviles, D, Murray, JG, Powers, JS (2019) Plant community responses to stand-level nutrient fertilization in a secondary tropical dry forest. Ecology, 100(6).

Warren, CR (2011) How does P affect photosynthesis and metabolite profiles of Eucalyptus globulus?. Tree physiology, 31(7): 727-739.

Wright, IJ, Reich, PB, Westoby, M, Ackerly, DD, Baruch, Z, Bongers, F, ... & Flexas, J (2004) The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature, 428(6985), 821-827.

Wright, SJ, Kitajima, K, Kraft, NJ, Reich, PB, Wright, IJ, Bunker, DE., ... Engelbrecht, BM (2010) Functional traits and the growth–mortality trade-off in tropical trees. Ecology, 91(12), 3664-3674.

Zavišić, A, Polle, A (2018) Dynamics of phosphorus nutrition, allocation and growth of young beech (*Fagus sylvatica* L.) trees in P-rich and P-poor forest soil. Tree physiology, 38(1): 37-51.

Zhang, G, Zhang, L, Wen, D (2018) Photosynthesis of subtropical forest species from different successional status in relation to foliar nutrients and phosphorus fractions. Scientific reports, 8(1): 1-12.